

# Determinants of Exclusive Breastfeeding and Mixed Feeding among Mothers of Infants in Dubai and Sharjah, United Arab Emirates

Haleama Al Sabbah<sup>1\*</sup>, Enas A. Assaf<sup>2</sup>, Zainab Taha<sup>1</sup>, Radwan Qasrawi<sup>3</sup>, Hadia Radwan<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Zayed University, United Arab Emirates, <sup>2</sup>Applied Science Private University, Jordan, <sup>3</sup>Al-Quds University, Palestine, <sup>4</sup>University of Sharjah, United Arab Emirates

*Submitted to Journal:*  
Frontiers in Nutrition

*Specialty Section:*  
Nutrition and Sustainable Diets

*Article type:*  
Original Research Article

*Manuscript ID:*  
872217

*Received on:*  
09 Feb 2022

*Revised on:*  
08 Apr 2022

*Journal website link:*  
[www.frontiersin.org](http://www.frontiersin.org)

In review

---

### *Conflict of interest statement*

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest

### *Author contribution statement*

HAS designed the study and HAS and HR recruited the participants and supervised the data collection. HAS and RQ analyzed the data. HAS, EAA, and ZT wrote the manuscript. HAS designed of the study and manuscript writing. HR reviewed the manuscript. All contributive authors of this original manuscript authorized the final version of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

### *Keywords*

Exclusive breastfeeding, Mixed feeding, Practices, Sharjah, Dubai, UAE, Child under two years

### *Abstract*

Word count: 349

**Background:** Breastfeeding (BF) is considered the ultimate method of infant feeding for at least the first six months of life. The main objective of this study was to assess the prevalence and duration of exclusive breastfeeding and the associated factors among women in Dubai and Sharjah, UAE.

**Methods:** A cross-sectional study was conducted in four hospitals and four healthcare centers in Dubai and Sharjah between September 2017 and December 2017. Hospitals and centers are governmental, and provide maternal and child health services. A convenience sample of 858 Arab and Emirati mothers for children under the age of 2 years participated in the study. Face-to-face interviews were conducted by using structured questionnaires. The study was approved by the University Ethical Committee and UAE Ministry of Health prior to data collection. Descriptive statistics were computed to describe all the questionnaire items. Chi-square test was used to compare between the study categorical variables. A binary logistic regression analysis was used to predict the relationship between BF and its associated factors. Statistical tests with  $p$ -values  $< 0.05$  were considered statistically significant.

**Results:** The mean age of the participating mothers was 30.6 (SD 5.5) years. Results showed that the prevalence of exclusive breastfeeding among the study participants was 24.4% (31.1 in Sharjah and 22% in Dubai) ( $p = .003$ ). The binary logistic regression reported that mother's and father's education, skin-to-skin period, number of children, mothers' health, and place of living were significantly associated with exclusive breastfeeding ( $p < 0.05$ ). Furthermore, the results reported a significant and positive effect with the duration of breast feeding, skin to skin period, underweight, last infant sex, number of children, and having a maid at home, and a non-significant positive effect of family size, and family income on the increased odds ratio of mixed breastfeeding (OR=2.1,  $p=.000$ ; OR=7.1,  $p=0.926$ ; and OR=2.5,  $p=0.755$ ).

**Conclusions:** Therefore, a health promotion program for exclusive breastfeeding during antenatal health visits, together with initiating health policies in maternal hospitals to encourage the initiation of breastfeeding during the first hour of birth and the introduction of skin-to-skin contact during the first five minutes of birth.

### *Contribution to the field*

HAS designed the study and HAS and HR recruited the participants and supervised the data collection. HAS and RQ analyzed the data. HAS, EAA, and ZT wrote the manuscript. HAS designed of the study and manuscript writing. HR reviewed the manuscript. All contributive authors of this original manuscript authorized the final version of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

*Ethics statements*

*Studies involving animal subjects*

Generated Statement: No animal studies are presented in this manuscript.

*Studies involving human subjects*

Generated Statement: The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Both Zayed University Ethical Committee and the UAE Ministry of Health Ethical Committee approved this study. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

*Inclusion of identifiable human data*

Generated Statement: No potentially identifiable human images or data is presented in this study.

In review

*Data availability statement*

Generated Statement: The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

In review

1 **Determinants of Exclusive Breastfeeding and Mixed Feeding among**  
2 **Mothers of Infants in Dubai and Sharjah, United Arab Emirates**

3  
4  
5

6 **Haleama Al Sabbah<sup>1\*</sup>, Enas A. Assaf<sup>2</sup>, Zainab Taha<sup>3</sup>, Radwan Qasrawi<sup>4,5</sup>, Hadia Radwan<sup>6</sup>**

7

8 <sup>1</sup>Department of Health Sciences, Zayed University, Dubai, United Arab Emirates.

9 <sup>2</sup> Faculty of Nursing, Applied Science Private University, Amman, Jordan.

10 <sup>3</sup>Department of Health Sciences, Zayed University, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates.

11 <sup>4</sup>Department of Computer Science, Al-Quds University, Jerusalem, Palestine.

12 <sup>5</sup>Department of Computer Engineering, Istinye University, 34010, Istanbul, Turkey.

13

14 <sup>6</sup> Department of Clinical Nutrition and Dietetics, College of Health Sciences, Research Institute of  
15 Medical and Health Sciences, University of Sharjah, Sharjah, United Arab Emirates.

16

17 **\* Correspondence:**

18 Haleama Al Sabbah

19 Department of Health Sciences

20 Zayed University

21 Dubai, United Arab Emirates

22 E-mail: Haleemah.AISabah@zu.ac.ae

23 Mobile: +971569501179

24

25 **Keywords: Exclusive Breastfeeding, Mixed feeding, Practices, Sharjah, Dubai, UAE, Child**

26 **under two years.**

27

28

29

30 **ABSTRACT**

31 *Background:* Breastfeeding (BF) is considered the ultimate method of infant feeding for at least the  
 32 first six months of life. Exclusive breastfeeding (EBF) is one of the most effective interventions to  
 33 improve child survival. The main objective of this study was to assess the prevalence and duration of  
 34 exclusive breastfeeding and the associated factors among women in Dubai and Sharjah, UAE.

35  
 36 *Methods:* A cross-sectional study was conducted in four hospitals and four healthcare centers in  
 37 Dubai and Sharjah between September 2017 and December 2017. Hospitals and centers are  
 38 governmental, and provide maternal and child health services. A convenience sample of 858 Arab  
 39 and Emirati mothers for children under the age of 2 years participated in the study. Face-to-face  
 40 interviews were conducted by using structured questionnaires. The study was approved by the  
 41 University Ethical Committee and UAE Ministry of Health prior to data collection. Descriptive  
 42 statistics were computed to describe all the questionnaire items. Chi-square test was used to compare  
 43 between the study categorical variables. A binary logistic regression analysis was used to predict the  
 44 relationship between BF and its associated factors. Statistical tests with p-values < 0.05 were  
 45 considered statistically significant.

46  
 47 *Results:* The mean age of the participating mothers was 30.6 (SD 5.5) years. Results showed that the  
 48 prevalence of exclusive breastfeeding among the study participants was 24.4% (31.1 in Sharjah and  
 49 22% in Dubai) (p = .003). The binary logistic regression reported that mother's and father's  
 50 education, skin-to-skin period, number of children, mothers' health, and place of living were  
 51 significantly associated with exclusive breastfeeding (p < 0.05). The results reported a significant  
 52 association between EB and duration of breastfeeding (OR=6.9, p=0.002), husband education  
 53 (OR=2.1, p=0.015), mother education (OR=1.3, p=0.027), number of children (OR=7.9, p=0.045),  
 54 having any health problem (OR=1.2, p=0.045), and living place (OR=1.4, p=0.033), and a non-  
 55 significant positive effect of family size, and family income. Furthermore, the result reported a  
 56 significant association between mixed breastfeeding and duration of breastfeeding (OR=0.1,  
 57 p=0.000), skin to skin period (OR=0.3, p=0.002), underweight (OR=4.7, p=0.034), last infant's sex  
 58 (OR=1.6, p=0.010), having maid at home (OR=2.1, p=0.000, number of children (OR=0.2, p=0.013),  
 59 and living place (OR=1.1, p=0.014), and a non-significant association with family size, and family  
 60 income.

61  
 62 *Conclusions:* Therefore, a health promotion program for exclusive breastfeeding during antenatal  
 63 health visits, together with initiating health policies in maternal hospitals to encourage the initiation  
 64 of breastfeeding during the first hour of birth and the introduction of skin-to-skin contact during the  
 65 first five minutes of birth are highly recommended.

66  
 67

- Deleted: Furthermore,
- Deleted: t
- Deleted: and positive effect with the
- Deleted:
- Deleted: ,
- Deleted: skin to skin period, underweight, last infant sex, number of children , and having a maid at home
- Deleted: on the increased odds ratio of mixed breastfeeding (OR=2.1, p=.000; OR=7.1, p=0.926; and OR=2.5, p=0.755).

78 Appropriate feeding practices during infancy and early childhood are essential to meet children's  
79 nutritional requirements and to maintain healthy growth and development (1). Substantial evidence  
80 supports breastfeeding as the best method for feeding infants and young children, providing them with  
81 optimal health and development (2). Accordingly, the World Health Organization (WHO) and the  
82 United Nations Children's Funds (UNICEF) recommend that breastfeeding should be initiated early  
83 within one hour of birth, and to continue exclusive breastfeeding with no other foods or liquids for the  
84 first six months of life (3). This is followed by the introduction of complementary feeding and  
85 continued breastfeeding until at least 24 months of age (4).

86 The benefits of breastfeeding (BF) have been well documented, with solid evidence supporting its  
87 impact on reducing the prevalence of both mild and moderate malnutrition, as well as childhood  
88 diseases (5). Long-term benefits have also been established for BF in terms of the prevention of  
89 diseases such as obesity, heart disease, diabetes, and asthma (6-9). However, the WHO and UNICEF  
90 have pointed out that the benefits of BF would be achieved when mothers breastfeed their babies for  
91 the first six months exclusively, i.e. only breast milk (3). Infants who receive any BF would benefit  
92 from the nutrients in breast milk and other advantages of BF, such as bonding, cognitive development,  
93 and enhancement of the immune system (2). The protective effect from obesity and other childhood  
94 diseases on infants and young children fed breast milk might be enhanced through its effect on infant  
95 microbiota colonization and development (10, 11).

96 Breastfeeding directly affects the infant's gut microbiota by exposure to the milk microbiota and  
97 indirectly via maternal milk factors that affect bacterial growth and metabolism, such as human milk  
98 oligosaccharides, secretory IgA, and antimicrobial factors. The potential of breast milk is important  
99 in protecting infants from asthma and allergies (12). Among the important core stone benefits of  
100 breastfeeding is that it improves child survival in the face of highly infectious diseases like COVID  
101 19 (13). The WHO recommends that breastfeeding should not be discontinued in cases of suspected  
102 or being confirmed COVID-19 (13). Thus, the benefit of breastfeeding can overcome the risk of  
103 catching the infection as infants acquire passive IgA immunity. This outweighs the potential  
104 COVID-19 risks (14).

105  
106 Despite considerable efforts to promote breastfeeding practices, the Gulf region still back behind when  
107 it comes to the goals set by the WHO (15). A study examining breastfeeding practices in the Middle  
108 East revealed that a large number of mothers who supplemented breastfeeding with other forms of  
109 feeding at an early age (16, 17). Since infant nutrition and health are interrelated, the effects of  
110 breastfeeding and maternal nutrition on each of these outcomes should be addressed. Diet is an  
111 important environmental factor that may influence health outcomes of breastfeeding mothers and  
112 infants. The maternal diet may affect the formation, composition, or secretion of milk. Studies have  
113 shown that unhealthy diets and food allergies play a role in the development of asthma in the Gulf  
114 countries (18). This finding is of great significance, considering the high prevalence of asthma among  
115 children and adults in Gulf countries, to the extent of becoming a significant public health concern.  
116

117 Similarly, researchers from different countries in Europe have found that breastfeeding practices do  
118 not meet the WHO and UNICEF recommendations (19). They pointed out that exclusive breastfeeding  
119 practice in different countries in Europe does not meet the 2025 World Health Assembly's Global  
120 Target for Nutrition to increase the rate to at least 50% (20). As for the UAE, mixed feeding,  
121 complimentary food, and fluid additions have been introduced at the first month of life in the UAE  
122 (21). Several factors negatively affect breastfeeding practices in different Gulf countries, such as  
123

124 maternal age, level of education, mothers' perception of insufficient milk production, problems  
125 associated with the breast such as nipple problems, mode of delivery (caesarean section), and hospital  
126 practices such as non-rooming-in (22, 23). In these studies, high educational level was more strongly  
127 associated with lower BF initiation and exclusive breastfeeding rates. In addition, hospital practices  
128 played an important role in breastfeeding outcomes, where vaginal birth and rooming enhanced  
129 breastfeeding initiation and extended the breastfeeding duration. In addition, mothers' perception of  
130 insufficient milk production and problems associated with the breast, such as nipple problems, have  
131 been reported to reduce the rate and duration of exclusive BF. The factors contributing to the  
132 continuation of breastfeeding and mixed feeding vary from country to country(24-28). One study in  
133 Malawi found that ethnicity of the mother, younger age of the mother, female infant and high number  
134 of children were significantly associated with EBF practices (29). While in a study among Cambodian  
135 mothers found that those with middle wealth were less likely to go for EBF compared to low wealth  
136 mothers (30). Another study among Irish mothers found that maternal age, short maternity leave,  
137 mothers from Irish nationality, non-tertiary education, and neonates with intensive-care unit admission  
138 were more likely not to adhere to EBF compared to others(31). While in relation to Irish primigravida  
139 mothers none adherence to EBF, the study found that mother's higher body mass index,  
140 unemployment, gestational diabetes, low birth weight antenatal steroids, and hypernatremia were all  
141 highly associated factors (32). Whereas, reasons for the discontinuation of breastfeeding might include  
142 maternal age, educational background, socioeconomic status, postpartum depression, maternal  
143 confidence, maternal obesity, and being overweight (33). On the other hand, whereas factors associated  
144 with a higher breastfeeding rate and longer duration include increased maternal age, low educational  
145 levels, rural residence, low income, multiparity, and avoiding contraceptives (34).

146  
147 To maintain breastfeeding as the best feeding method that supports infants and young children's health,  
148 the WHO has set a global goal to increase the rate of exclusive breastfeeding to at least 50% by 2025  
149 (35). The Ministry of Health in the UAE has made extensive efforts in collaboration with health  
150 authorities in all emirates to develop plans and strategies that would help achieve this goal by  
151 increasing the rate of EBF (36). As part of these efforts, the UAE has embraced various policy  
152 initiatives, including the Baby-Friendly Hospital Initiative (BFHI), the Global Strategy for Infant and  
153 Young Child Feeding, and the implementation of the International Code of Marketing of Breast Milk  
154 Substitutes (37). According to the MOH national infant feeding policy implemented throughout the  
155 country, infants should be breastfed exclusively until six months of age (21, 38).

156  
157 In addition, the UAE Federal National Council passed a draft clause in child rights law to make  
158 breastfeeding mandatory for the first two years of an infant's life (39). To support BF among working  
159 mothers, a decree was issued that extended the 60 days of paid maternity leave to 90 days. The  
160 experience of the emirate of Sharjah is peculiar, as the city has been recognized as the Middle East's  
161 first baby-friendly city following the successful adoption of the main standards for this rating (40). To  
162 assess these efforts, it is important to assess breastfeeding practices and determine the EBF rates. Few  
163 studies have been conducted on breastfeeding in the UAE and recent studies have been confined to  
164 certain emirates. Most of these studies were cross-sectional and only one national survey was conducted  
165 in the year 2000. The results of the national survey revealed that only 34% of infants were exclusively  
166 breastfed for up to four months of age (36). A recent study conducted in Abu Dhabi reported a rate of  
167 44.3% (41).

168  
169 [Despite the tremendous efforts to increase breastfeeding worldwide, the rates are suboptimal in many](#)  
170 [countries, including the UAE. In the UAE, there are gaps in understanding why many mothers have](#)  
171 [difficulties initiating and maintaining exclusive breastfeeding in the first six months of life and](#)  
172 [instead introduce artificial feeding. Therefore, in light of the limited success in EBF promotion, as](#)  
173 [evidenced by low EBF rates, there are factors affecting infant feeding and breastfeeding](#)

Formatted: Font: (Default) +Headings CS (Times New Roman), 12 pt, Not Italic, Complex Script  
Font: +Headings CS (Times New Roman), 12 pt, Not Italic



174 practices. Hence, in the current study, exploring these difficulties and associated factors can be  
175 amended through education programs and directing governmental intervention efforts to increase the  
176 rate of exclusive breastfeeding and meet the WHO and UNICEF goals. In addition, there are ongoing  
177 national efforts and investments in these programs, including the development and updating of  
178 policies and strategies. However, regardless of the health authorities' efforts to support and promote  
179 breastfeeding, the rate of exclusive breastfeeding in the UAE remains suboptimal. Therefore, this  
180 study will help assess the prevalence of exclusive breastfeeding and identify other associated factors  
181 that impact the duration of exclusive breastfeeding in infants aged 6 to 24 months in Dubai and  
182 Sharjah. Ultimately, the results can help health providers improve mothers' knowledge about  
183 breastfeeding. Furthermore, identifying these factors will shed light on why the breastfeeding rates  
184 are still suboptimal. Accordingly, there is very little documentation of EBF in the UAE due to the  
185 rapid changes in women's lifestyles and engagement in the workforce particularly in Dubai. The  
186 main objective of this study was to assess the prevalence of exclusive breastfeeding and to identify  
187 the main contributing factors in infants aged 6 to 24 months in Dubai and Sharjah, in order to  
188 improve the public's knowledge and initiate health policies about breastfeeding.  
189

Deleted: There

## 190 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

### 191 2.1 Study design and settings:

192 A cross-sectional study design was used to collect data from the waiting areas of the largest maternal  
193 and child outpatient clinics in four hospitals and four health centers in Sharjah and Dubai, UAE.  
194 Data from a convenience sample of 858 mothers were collected between September 2017 and  
195 December 2017. Permission and ethical approval to conduct this study were obtained from the  
196 University Ethical Committee and UAE Ministry of Health. Written informed consent was obtained  
197 from mothers who met the criteria for this study and were willing to participate. Participants were  
198 informed that their participation in this study was voluntary and that they had the freedom to quit the  
199 study at any time.  
200

### 201 2.2 Population and Sampling:

202 To be included in the study, mothers had to be aged 18 years and above, be either Emiratis or Arabs,  
203 be able to provide written consent, and have at least one child aged 6 months to 2 years. Participants  
204 were excluded if they were less than 18 years old or had children aged less than 6 months or more  
205 than 2 years. The proposed sample size was to collect data from at least 800 women from waiting  
206 areas (100 women from each clinic/center). A total of 858 women (492 living in Dubai and 366  
207 living in Sharjah) participated in this study.  
208

### 209 2.3 Data Collection:

210 Data were collected using eight trained interviewer-administered multi-component questionnaires  
211 through a structured face to face interview at the selected outpatient clinic waiting rooms in hospitals  
212 and healthcare centers in Dubai and Sharjah. The research assistant approached mothers visiting  
213 outpatient clinics in the waiting rooms of hospitals and public health centers in Dubai and Sharjah  
214 and introduced the study with its objectives and protocol. Eligible and interested subjects read and  
215 signed a consent form prior to starting face-to-face interviews. A multicomponent questionnaire was  
216 developed based on a literature review of similar studies and was reviewed by a panel of experts in  
217 the field of infant feeding (42-44). A valid and reliable questionnaire was used to collect the data.  
218

219 The structured interview questionnaire was translated into Arabic, then back-translated into English,  
220 and pilot tested with 66 mothers from one of the hospitals' outpatient clinics in Dubai (the results  
221 from the pilot study were not included in this study and were only used for piloting) to ensure the

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman,  
Font color: Auto, Complex Script Font: Times New  
Roman,

Deleted: then

224 clarity, simplicity, and logical flow of the questions. [The questionnaire was revised according to the](#)  
225 [pilot study](#). The final version of the questionnaire consisted of 49 questions and required  
226 approximately 10-15 minutes to complete.

227  
228 The questionnaire consisted of four main sections: sociodemographic data about the mother and the  
229 child (17 items) (e.g., maternal age, maternal marriage age, mother and father educational level, place  
230 of living, maternal employment, family size, number of children, income, having a maid, infant age,  
231 birthweight,...etc.); family socioeconomic status (5 items); knowledge, attitude, and practice of  
232 breastfeeding and complementary feeding (27 items); and the mother's obstetric and general health  
233 status section (8 items) (e.g., type of delivery, lactation amenorrhea, use of contraception, if she is  
234 currently pregnant, sore nipples, maternal health perception, and complications), and breastfeeding  
235 practices such as (initiation time of breastfeeding, skin-to-skin care duration, breastfeeding duration,  
236 infant feeding type).

#### 237 238 **3.4. Anthropometric measurements:**

239 Infant birthweight and length were obtained from the children's health cards, while mother weight(kg)  
240 and height(cm) were measured during the visit using a standard protocol and measured using the Seca  
241 220 Telescopic Measuring Rod for Column Scales for height/ weight measurements. BMI ( $\text{kg}/\text{m}^2$ ) was  
242 calculated by dividing the weight (kg) by the height squared (m). BMI was determined according to  
243 the World Health Organization (WHO) classification (45).

#### 244 245 **3.5. Breastfeeding outcomes:**

246 Early initiation of breastfeeding was defined as the proportion of children who latched their breasts  
247 within one hour of birth. Exclusive breastfeeding was defined as an infant fed only breast milk  
248 without any other oral intake, except for medications and vitamins, within the last 24 hours. Mixed  
249 feeding was defined as the introduction of solid food or formula milk during breastfeeding.  
250 Formula feeding was defined as feeding only formula from birth.

#### 251 252 **3.6. Statistical analysis**

253 Data were entered, cleaned, and analyzed using the Statistical Package for Social Science (SPSS)  
254 software version 24. Descriptive statistics were computed to describe all the questionnaire items  
255 including frequencies and percentages. Furthermore, inferential statistical analysis, including Chi-  
256 square test, ANOVA test, and binary logistic regression analysis (OR) were used to assess the  
257 relationships between BF and its associated factors (Infants age, duration of BF, Skin to skin period,  
258 parental education, last infant's sex, maid at the house, birth weight, number of children, health  
259 problems, marriage age of mother, family size, family income, and Emirate states). The significant  
260 level was set at  $P < 0.05$ .

261

## 262 **RESULTS**

263 The mean age of the participant mothers was 30.6 (SD, 5.5) years. Table 1 presents the demographic  
264 characteristics of women, as about 44% were from Sharjah and the rest were from the Dubai  
265 Emirate. Approximately two-thirds of the women were aged between 20 and 34 years. Most women  
266 had more than a high school education and were married at the time of the data collection. Only 29%  
267 of the women were working, and about two-thirds of the women reported being in the upper- and  
268 middle-income groups.

\*\*\*Insert table 1 here\*\*\*

269  
270

271 Figure1 showed the prevalence rates of different breastfeeding practices:EBF (24.4%), predominant  
272 breastfeeding (20.0%), and mixed-feeding (57.1%).

273 *\*\*\*Insert Figure 1 here\*\*\**

274  
275 Tables 2 and 3 present the associations between EBF and mixed feeding (breast milk and formula  
276 milk), and the selected sociodemographic characteristics. Significant associations were found  
277 between the place of residence, employment , and EBF ( $p<0.05$ ). Participants living in the Emirate of  
278 Sharjah and non-working women had more EBF than those living in Dubai and working women  
279 ( $p=0.003$ ).

280 *\*\*\*Insert table 2 here\*\*\**

281  
282 The results showed that working women and those who had a maid at home were significantly  
283 associated with mixed feeding ( $p< 0.001$ ). (table 3).

284 *\*\*\*Insert table 3 here\*\*\**

285  
286 Table 4 shows the associations between EBF and mother's obstetric and general health status  
287 variables as type of delivery methods; being pregnant; use of contraceptives; complaints from sore  
288 nipple; maternal overall health status, and Body Mass Index (BMI) were not significant associated  
289 with with EBF ( $p=0.796, 0.192, 0.409, 0.364, 0.192$ ) respectively. Only lactational amenorrhea during  
290 breastfeeding was significantly associated with EBF ( $p<0.001$ ).

291 *\*\*\*Insert table 4 here\*\*\**

292  
293 Regarding mixed feeding and women's overall health status, as shown in table 5, those who used  
294 contraceptives were more likely to use mixed feeding than were those who did not ( $p<0.010$ ). In  
295 addition, women who had amenorrhea while breastfeeding were more likely not use mixed feeding  
296 than those who did not ( $p<0.000$ ).

297 *\*\*\*Insert table 5 here\*\*\**

298  
299 Table 6 shows that women who started breastfeeding soon after delivery in less than one hour were  
300 significantly associated with EBF ( $p<0.010$ ). In addition, a longer breastfeeding period was  
301 significantly associated with EBF. ( $p<0.000$ ).

302 *\*\*\*Insert table 6 here\*\*\**

303  
304 The results of the logistic regression in table 7 indicate that exclusive breastfeeding and mixed  
305 breastfeeding of mothers living in the UAE are affected by many factors. The determinants of breast  
306 feeding indicated by "exclusive and mixed formula breastfeeding" among Emirate mothers is in the  
307 overall population, before and during the pandemic, is assessed by several variables of which  
308 duration of breastfeeding, skin to skin period, having made at home, having any health problem,  
309 family income, gender, infant age, family size and family income.

310  
311 To explain exclusive breastfeeding, the odds ratio (OR) of women with infants age greater than 12  
312 months are (0.6, 0.8(95% C. I (0.1-2.5),(0.1-4.2)); 1.8, 2.7(95%C.I(0.5-6.2),(0.6 -11.5))) for EBF and  
313 MixedBF respectively. Predictors (breastfeeding duration, skin-to-skin period, fathers' and mothers'  
314 educational levels, number of children, and place of residence) were significant for exclusive  
315 breastfeeding. For mixed breastfeeding, the predictors (duration of breastfeeding, skin-to-skin period,  
316 infant underweight, infant sex, maid at home, number of children, and living place) were significant  
317 with mixed BF variables. The three highest OR values were found in  $\geq 13$  months duration of breast  
318 feeding, number of children,  $>10$  husband education predictors (OR(95% C.I): 7.9(1-65.2), 6.9 (2 -  
319 23.8), 2.1(0.8 -5.5)) for the EBF respectively. While the highest the three OR values are found in

320 family size >4 members, underweight infants and infants age  $\geq 19$  months (OR(95% C.I): 7.1(1.8 -  
321 28.3)); 4.7(0.4- 50.2); 2.7 (0.6 -11.5)) for the MizedBF variable.

322  
323 The effects of the mother's education, father's education, skin-to-skin period, number of children,  
324 mother's health, and living region reported an increase in the odds ratio. Additionally, they were  
325 more likely to breastfeeding exclusively. The odds ratio of breastfeeding duration and skin-to-skin  
326 period showed a significant and negative effect on mixed breastfeeding, indicating associate with a  
327 decrease odds ratio of mixed breastfeeding. Furthermore, the results reported a significant and  
328 positive impact of having a maid at home, family size, and family income, indicating an association  
329 with an increased odds ratio of mixed breastfeeding.

330  
331 \*\*\*Insert table 7 here\*\*\*  
332

## 333 DISCUSSION

334  
335 Breastfeeding provides both mothers and infants with great benefits and is highly recommended for  
336 all mothers. This study assessed the prevalence of exclusive breastfeeding and the determinant  
337 factors influencing exclusive breastfeeding practices among women living in Dubai and Sharjah. The  
338 study showed that only 24.4% of women practiced EBF. Despite the WHO recommendations  
339 regarding breastfeeding and EBF benefits for both infant growth and reduction in the risk of diseases,  
340 women in the UAE are still far from reaching the target WHO goal (1). In comparison, more than  
341 half of the women practiced mixed feeding (57.1%) in both Dubai and Sharjah, which is similar to a  
342 previous study in the UAE among Emirate women which reported that only 24% of the participants  
343 were exclusively breastfed their infants (21). This indicates that the practices of breastfeeding did  
344 not change despite the fact with all the national efforts (37).

345  
346 Our study showed that the main factors associated with women refraining from EBF were being  
347 working women and living in Dubai. This was similar to a study conducted in Abu Dhabi, where  
348 60% of working women stopped breastfeeding (22). In the UAE, the women's labor force increased  
349 dramatically between 1990 and 2019 at rates of 28.9% and 52.39%, respectively (46), and further  
350 rose to 57.5 in 2020 according to the WORLDBANK (47), which increased the number of working  
351 women in the UAE. Therefore, our results may reflect the barriers faced by working mothers in the  
352 UAE, which are deterrents of breastfeeding. This might be because of the number of working hours  
353 or duration of maternal leave. In addition to the lack of nurseries in the mother's workplace, making  
354 it difficult for working women to breastfeed their infants (22). Previous studies have also reported  
355 that maternal employment was negatively associated with exclusive breastfeeding (16, 48-50).  
356 However, this study showed that women living in Sharjah were more committed to EBF than those  
357 living in Dubai. This may be related to several factors, such as the EBF education and awareness  
358 programs in Sharjah (40)

359  
360 On the other hand, the results showed that women who had a maid at home (70 %) were more likely  
361 to mixed feed their infants than those who had no maids at home. This might be related to the fact  
362 that women stay long hours away from their infants; it would be much easier for the maid to control  
363 the infant's hunger by using formula milk when the mother is away from home. This is consistent  
364 with a study conducted in Saudi Arabia on the effect of having a maid on raising children and  
365 mothers' attachment. It was found that more than half of the maids were responsible for both  
366 household cleaning and nourishing the infants, and were mainly using bottle feeding because it is  
367 more convenient and fast, especially when the mother is working and away from home (51).

368 Our study showed that mothers who did not experience lactation amenorrhea and used contraceptives  
369 were more prone to mixed feeding. The relationship between menstruation (ovulation) and  
370 breastfeeding has a positive relationship; in that, studies have shown that the more frequent  
371 breastfeeding and the duration of breastfeeding, the longer extended period of menstrual cycle  
372 stopping among women. Therefore, it is expected that women who do not breastfeed more frequently  
373 will have their ovulation sooner than those who adhere to the frequency of breastfeeding. This was  
374 found in earlier studies in Bangladesh that resumed the menstrual cycle and mixed feeding, among  
375 which the study by Radwan (52)

376  
377 Early skin-to-skin contact with the newborn after delivery was found in our study to predict EBF  
378 practices, similar to that found by Moor et al. (53), as this contact would create an intimate  
379 relationship and interaction between and build feelings of warmth, care, and connection. Skin-to-skin  
380 contact also enhances the release of oxytocin hormone, which is beneficial for controlling  
381 postpartum haemorrhage (53). It was also found in one study by Conde-Agudelo and his colleagues  
382 that the Kangaroo strategy of skin-to-skin contact together with exclusive breastfeeding would  
383 decrease infant mortality rate (54).

384  
385 The study showed that breastfeeding the first hour after delivery is highly associated with EBF, in  
386 that the production of milk will be initiated, and women would feel more satisfied with their infant  
387 needs. While infants might feel attached to breastfeeding and be more connected to their mothers,  
388 eventually leading to a longer breastfeeding period and an increased EBF commitment. Early  
389 initiation of breastfeeding is highly recommended by the WHO and UNCIF (4). Early initiation was  
390 also found to be significantly associated with EBF in our study; the earlier it started, the more  
391 committed. Many studies support the importance of initiating breastfeeding and the relationship with  
392 EBF (22, 55). In this study, a high income was also found to be strongly associated with mixed  
393 feeding. Similarly, in a previous study on UAE, high income was associated with the cessation of  
394 breastfeeding (22). High income was found to be associated with cessation of breastfeeding in  
395 several other studies worldwide (56, 57).

396 The study also showed that women who breastfed their infants for more than 6 months and those  
397 who currently breastfed their infants were significantly more likely to undergo EBF than the others.  
398 This finding was consistent with the results of a study conducted in Cyprus. (58). This could be  
399 related to the fact that women who feel committed to breastfeeding their infants will be more likely  
400 to dedicate themselves to EBF at an early stage; on the other hand, women who choose not to feed  
401 for more than 6 months would be more likely not highly dedicated and committed to EBF and prone  
402 to mixed feeding.

403  
404 Among the predictors of mixed feeding, our study showed infants' underweight, mother's education,  
405 infant gender, has a maid at home, mother's age at marriage, family size, family income, and living  
406 place are significant. Infant underweight is culturally associated with insufficient milk production in  
407 Arab and Gulf countries, or the milk is not very nutritious for the baby; therefore, many mothers tend  
408 to go for mixed feeding and eventually, after some time, cessation of breast milk. This is consistent  
409 with many studies, and has been discussed among several other cultures and Arab cultures (21, 59-  
410 61). It was specifically reported in an early study that women in the UAE initiated mixed feeding as  
411 early as the first month of infancy for the same reason (21).

412  
413 Interestingly, our study did not show a significant association between maternal health problems,  
414 method of delivery, and maternal BMI with EBF, although it was previously found to be among the  
415 determinants of EBF in the Gulf countries (22, 23, 41). Regarding the mode of delivery, although it  
416 showed no significant association with EBF, more than half of the women who delivered via  
417 caesarean section reported mixed feeding, which is similar to previous studies because of operation

418 pain and discomfort. (22, 41, 60). Regarding women's BMI and EBF, it was found previously that  
419 maternal obesity was considered risk factor for initiating breast feeding among women in developing  
420 countries (62). Since the physiological and psychological determinants among obese women prevent  
421 them from initiating breastfeeding, neither sustain the practice for a longer period, looking to the  
422 fact that prolactin production is lower, big breasts with large areola and inverted nipple make  
423 breastfeeding difficult. (63). Our study showed that approximately 51% of obese and overweight  
424 participants fed their children mixed feeding, compared to 22% practiced EBF. This could tell you  
425 that despite the difficulties that weight can endorse, those who are willing to feed their children  
426 mother milk were more committed as among the Arab culture the obese women have more  
427 nutritional milk than underweight women, and therefore family might support breastfeeding.  
428

429 Some limitations of this study should be considered when interpreting its results. First, the data in  
430 this study represent two out of the seven UAE Emirates. Although Dubai and Sharjah are two of the  
431 most densely populated Emirates, geographical differences may exist when all seven Emirates are  
432 considered. Another limitation was the small number of participants who met the study criteria for  
433 selection and missing data for some variables. Therefore, the results are not generalizable to the  
434 entire UAE, and additional research to cover all the seven other Emirates is needed. Another  
435 limitation of this study was the recall bias. Recall bias was common among the participants who  
436 were interviewed about past events.  
437

438

## 439 CONCLUSION

440

441 This study has highlighted several important findings. Mothers who were not working and those living  
442 in Sharjah had a higher prevalence of EBF. Other factors associated with EBF were early skin-to-skin  
443 contact and breastfeeding during the first hour post-delivery. Further research to cover all the other  
444 seven Emirates and determinant factors for EBF is recommended in order to encourage breastfeeding  
445 supportive working environment policies, a health promotion program for exclusive breastfeeding  
446 during antenatal health visits, together with initiating health policies in maternal hospitals to encourage  
447 the initiation of breastfeeding during the first hour of birth and the introduction of skin-to-skin contact  
448 during the first five minutes of birth is highly recommended. Future studies regarding the effect of  
449 EBF on infant growth and development in the UAE are highly encouraged.  
450

450

## 451 Ethical Statement

452 Permissions and ethical approvals to conduct this study were obtained from Zayed University (ZU)  
453 ethical committee (ZU16\_064\_F), the Ministry of Health (MOH), and Dubai Health Authority  
454 (DHA). Written informed consent was obtained from mothers who met the criteria for this study and  
455 were willing to participate. The participants knew that participation in this study was completely  
456 voluntary and that they had the freedom to quit the study at any time.  
457

457

## 458 Acknowledgments

459 The authors are grateful to the Ministry of Health and the Dubai Health Authority for granting  
460 access and approval to their health care centers and hospitals in Dubai and Sharjah. Furthermore,  
461 we would like to express our gratitude to the mothers for their sincere cooperation and the  
462 provision of valuable information. Special thanks go to the research assistants for their time and  
463 commitment in collecting data.  
464

464

465 **Funding and financial support**

466 The study was funded by the Research Office at Zayed University (R16050).

467  
468 **Conflict of interest**

469 The authors declare no competing interests.

470  
471 *Contributor Statement*

472 **Competing interests**

473 The authors declare no competing interests.

474  
475 **Authors' contributions**

476 HAS designed the study and HAS and HR recruited the participants and supervised the data collection.  
477 HAS and RQ analysed the data. HAS, EAA, and ZT wrote the manuscript. HAS designed of the study  
478 and manuscript writing. HR reviewed the manuscript. All contributed authors of this original  
479 manuscript authorized the final version of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final  
480 version of the manuscript.  
481

482 **Contribution to the Field Statement**

483 Exclusive breastfeeding is the single most effective intervention for improving child survival. It is  
484 one of UAE important maternal and child policy, in order to improve the health status of infant's  
485 health under 2 years. Women in Sharjah and Dubai were fare from the UAE and WHO breastfeeding  
486 goals. Mother's education, father's education, skin-to-skin period, number of children, mothers'  
487 health, and living region (Emirate) are predictors for EBF practices. Working mothers, family size,  
488 having maid at home were all predictors for mixed feeding. Health education promotional program,  
489 together with improving breastfeeding friendly work settings is very important to sustain EBF. This  
490 study would serve of changing policies and imporving the health status of the infants and mothers in  
491 UAE.  
492

493  
494

495 **References**

- 496 1. Heatley ML, Watson B, Gallois C, Miller YD. Women's Perceptions of Communication in Pregnancy  
497 and Childbirth: Influences on Participation and Satisfaction With Care. *Journal of health*  
498 *communication*. 2015;20(7):827-34.
- 499 2. Dieterich CM, Felice JP, O'Sullivan E, Rasmussen KM. Breastfeeding and health outcomes for the  
500 mother-infant dyad. *Pediatric clinics of North America*. 2013;60(1):31-48.
- 501 3. Saadeh MR. A new global strategy for infant and young child feeding. *Forum of nutrition*.  
502 2003;56:236-8.
- 503 4. WHO. World Health Organization. Guiding principles for complementary feeding of the breastfed  
504 child. WHO, Washington DC, Protection DoHPa, Program FaN; 2003.
- 505 5. Bhutta ZAD, J.K.; Rizvi, A.; Gaffey, M.F.; Walker, N.; Horton, S.; Webb, P.; Lartey, A.; Black, R.E.  
506 Evidence-based interventions for improvement of maternal and child nutrition: What can be done  
507 and at what cost? *Lancet* 2013;382:452–77.



- 508 6. Arenz S, Ruckerl R, Koletzko B, von Kries R. Breast-feeding and childhood obesity--a systematic  
509 review. *International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders : journal of the*  
510 *International Association for the Study of Obesity*. 2004;28(10):1247-56.
- 511 7. Cope MB, Allison DB. Critical review of the World Health Organization's (WHO) 2007 report on  
512 'evidence of the long-term effects of breastfeeding: systematic reviews and meta-analysis' with  
513 respect to obesity. *Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study*  
514 *of Obesity*. 2008;9(6):594-605.
- 515 8. Ip S, Chung M, Raman G, Chew P, Magula N, DeVine D, et al. Breastfeeding and maternal and  
516 infant health outcomes in developed countries. Evidence report/technology assessment.  
517 2007(153):1-186.
- 518 9. Lodge CJTDJLMXZDXTRLAJBGAKJDS. Breastfeeding and asthma and allergies: a systematic review  
519 and meta-analysis. *APA Acta Paediatrica*. 2015;104:38-53.
- 520 10. Koleva PT, Bridgman SL, Kozyrskyj AL. The Infant Gut Microbiome: Evidence for Obesity Risk and  
521 Dietary Intervention. 2015;7(4):2237-60.
- 522 11. Alsharairi NA. The Infant Gut Microbiota and Risk of Asthma: The Effect of Maternal Nutrition  
523 during Pregnancy and Lactation. 2020;8(8):1119.
- 524 12. van den Elsen LWJGJBRVV. Shaping the Gut Microbiota by Breastfeeding: The Gateway to Allergy  
525 Prevention? *Front Pediatr Frontiers in pediatrics*. 2019;7:47.
- 526 13. WHO. Breastfeeding and COVID-19, Scientific brief. 2020.
- 527 14. WHO. World Health organization, Clinical management of COVID-19: interim guidance, 27 May  
528 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 2020. Contract No.: WHO/2019-  
529 nCoV/clinical/2020.5.
- 530 15. WHO. World Health Organizatio, World Health Statistics WHO, Geneva 2015.
- 531 16. Gardner H, Green K, Gardner A. Infant feeding practices of Emirati women in the rapidly  
532 developing city of Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. *International journal of environmental*  
533 *research and public health*. 2015;12(9):10923-40.
- 534 17. Hwalla N, Al Dhaheri AS, Radwan H, Alfawaz HA, Fouda MA, Al-Daghri NM, et al. The prevalence  
535 of micronutrient deficiencies and inadequacies in the Middle East and approaches to interventions.  
536 *Nutrients*. 2017;9(3).
- 537 18. Alsharairi NA. Diet and Food Allergy as Risk Factors for Asthma in the Arabian Gulf Region:  
538 Current Evidence and Future Research Needs. *International journal of environmental research and*  
539 *public health*. 2019;16(20).
- 540 19. Zakarija-Grkovic ICABMEPCVCBBMGHMCWPHSRSHAS-ADA. Are our babies off to a healthy  
541 start? The state of implementation of the Global strategy for infant and young child feeding in  
542 Europe. *Int Breastfeed J International Breastfeeding Journal*. 2020;15(1).
- 543 20. World Health O. Global Nutrition Monitoring Framework: operational guidance for tracking  
544 progress in meeting targets for 2025. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 2017.
- 545 21. Radwan H. Patterns and determinants of breastfeeding and complementary feeding practices of  
546 Emirati Mothers in the United Arab Emirates. *BMC public health*. 2013;13:171.
- 547 22. Taha Z, Hassan AA, Wikkeling-Scott L, Papandreou D. Factors Associated with Delayed Initiation  
548 and Cessation of Breastfeeding Among Working Mothers in Abu Dhabi, the United Arab Emirates.  
549 *International Journal of Women's Health*. 2021;13:539.
- 550 23. Taha Z, Ali Hassan A, Wikkeling-Scott L, Eltoum R, Papandreou D. Assessment of hospital  
551 rooming-in practice in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates: A cross-sectional multi-center study.  
552 *Nutrients*. 2020;12(8):2318.
- 553 24. Amin THHAQAA. Determinants of Initiation and Exclusivity of Breastfeeding in Al Hassa, Saudi  
554 Arabia. *Breastfeeding Medicine*. 2011;6(2):59-68.



- 555 25. Hegazi MAAMAMAAA-HLAS. Factors associated with exclusive breastfeeding in relation to  
556 knowledge, attitude and practice of breastfeeding mothers in Rabigh community, Western Saudi  
557 Arabia. *World J Pediatr World Journal of Pediatrics*. 2019;15(6):601-9.
- 558 26. Kim B-Y. Factors that influence early breastfeeding of singletons and twins in Korea: a  
559 retrospective study. *International Breastfeeding Journal*. 2017;12.
- 560 27. Ogbo F.A DMVPAOF AAAOOBOJOLGPR. Regional prevalence and determinants of exclusive  
561 breastfeeding in India. *Int Breastfeeding J International Breastfeeding Journal*. 2019;14(1).
- 562 28. Piro SSAHM. Impacts of antenatal nursing interventions on mothers breastfeeding self-efficacy:  
563 an experimental study. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*. 2020;20(1).
- 564 29. Salim YM, Stones W. Determinants of exclusive breastfeeding in infants of six months and below  
565 in Malawi: a cross sectional study. *BMC pregnancy and childbirth*. 2020;20(1):472.
- 566 30. Um S, Chan YZC, Tol B, Sopheab H. Determinants of Exclusive Breastfeeding of Infants under Six  
567 Months among Cambodian Mothers. *Journal of pregnancy*. 2020;2020:2097285.
- 568 31. Smith HA, J OBH, Kenny LC, Kiely M, Murray DM, Leahy-Warren P. Early life factors associated  
569 with the exclusivity and duration of breast feeding in an Irish birth cohort study. *Midwifery*.  
570 2015;31(9):904-11.
- 571 32. Panaviene J, Zakharchenko L, Olteanu D, Cullen M, A EL-K. Factors Contributing to Non-Exclusive  
572 Breastfeeding in Primigravid Mothers. *Irish medical journal*. 2019;112(9):1003.
- 573 33. Stuebe AMGKM-BS. Association Between Maternal Mood and Oxytocin Response to  
574 Breastfeeding. *Journal of Women's Health*. 2013;22(4):352-61.
- 575 34. Al Juaid DAMBCWGRC. Breastfeeding in Saudi Arabia: a review. *International Breastfeeding  
576 Journal*. 2014;9:1.
- 577 35. WHO. World Health Organization, Global nutrition targets 2025: breastfeeding policy brief.  
578 World Health Organization; 2014.
- 579 36. Fikri M, Farid S. United Arab Emirates Family Health Survey. Ministry of Health. Abu Dhabi,  
580 United Arab Emirates; 2000.
- 581 37. Taha Z. Trends of breastfeeding in the United Arab Emirates (UAE). *Arab Journal of Nutrition and  
582 Exercise (AJNE)*. 2017:152-9.
- 583 38. Al-Nuaimi N, Katende G, Arulappan J. Breastfeeding trends and determinants: implications and  
584 recommendations for gulf cooperation council countries. *Sultan Qaboos University Medical Journal*.  
585 2017;17(2):e155.
- 586 39. Salem O. FNC passes mandatory breastfeeding clause for Child Rights law. *The National; Abu  
587 Dhabi Media: Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates*. 2014.
- 588 40. Al Ghazal H, Rashid S, Ruf E. The Sharjah baby-friendly campaign: a community-based model for  
589 breastfeeding promotion, protection, and support. *Breastfeeding medicine : the official journal of  
590 the Academy of Breastfeeding Medicine*. 2015;10(9):437-41.
- 591 41. Taha Z, Garemo M, Nanda J. Patterns of breastfeeding practices among infants and young  
592 children in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. *International breastfeeding journal*. 2018;13(1):1-10.
- 593 42. Ayed A. Knowledge, attitude and practice regarding exclusive breastfeeding among mothers  
594 attending primary health care centers in Abha city. *Int J Med Sci Public Health International Journal  
595 of Medical Science and Public Health*. 2014;3(11):1355.
- 596 43. Hamade HNFKSHNKJA-RLNL. Breastfeeding knowledge, attitude, perceived behavior, and  
597 intention among female undergraduate university students in the Middle East: the case of Lebanon  
598 and Syria. *Food Nutr Bull Food and nutrition bulletin*. 2014;35(2):179-90.
- 599 44. Khassawneh MKYAZAA. Knowledge, attitude and practice of breastfeeding in the north of  
600 Jordan: a cross-sectional study. *Int Breastfeed J International Breastfeeding Journal*. 2006;1(1).

- 601 45.WHO. Obesity : preventing and managing the global epidemic : report of a WHO consultation.  
602 Geneva: World Health Organization; 2000.
- 603 46.Gender Inequality Index (GII) [Internet]. 2019. Available from:  
604 <http://hdr.undp.org/en/content/gender-inequality-index-gii>.
- 605 47.UAE: The sky is the limit for gender reform [press release]. world bank blogs2020.
- 606 48.Karim F, Khan ANS, Tasnim F, Chowdhury MAK, Billah SM, Karim T, et al. Prevalence and  
607 determinants of initiation of breastfeeding within one hour of birth: An analysis of the Bangladesh  
608 Demographic and Health Survey, 2014. *PloS one*. 2019;14(7):e0220224.
- 609 49.Chimoriya R, Scott JA, John JR, Bhole S, Hayen A, Kolt GS, et al. Determinants of Full  
610 Breastfeeding at 6 Months and Any Breastfeeding at 12 and 24 Months among Women in Sydney:  
611 Findings from the HSHK Birth Cohort Study. *International journal of environmental research and  
612 public health*. 2020;17(15).
- 613 50.Ayesha U, Mamun A, Sayem MA, Hossain MG. Factors associated with duration of breastfeeding  
614 in Bangladesh: evidence from Bangladesh demographic and health survey 2014. *BMC public health*.  
615 2021;21(1):1758.
- 616 51.Al-Matary AAJ. The Impact of Child Rearing by Maids on Mother Child Attachment. *Hamdan  
617 Medical Journal*. 2013;6(2):197-??
- 618 52.Radwan H, Mussaiger AO, Hachem F. Breast-Feeding and Lactational Amenorrhea in the United  
619 Arab Emirates. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*. 2009;24(1):62-8.
- 620 53.Moore ER, Bergman N, Anderson GC, Medley N. Early skin-to-skin contact for mothers and their  
621 healthy newborn infants. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*. 2016;11(11):Cd003519.
- 622 54.Conde-Agudelo AD-RJLBJM. Kangaroo Mother Care To Reduce Morbidity and Mortality in Low  
623 Birthweight Infants. *Birth*. 2003;30(2):133-4.
- 624 55.Rukindo M, Tumwebaze M, Mijumbi EM. First Hour Initiation of Breast Feeding &  
625 Associated Factors, among Mothers at Post Natal Ward in Fort Portal Referral Hospital, Uganda %J  
626 *Open Journal of Epidemiology*. 2021;Vol.11No.01:15.
- 627 56.Flacking R, Nyqvist KH, Ewald U. Effects of socioeconomic status on breastfeeding duration in  
628 mothers of preterm and term infants. *European Journal of Public Health*. 2007;17(6):579-84.
- 629 57.Hunegnaw MT, Gelaye KA, Ali BM. Factors associated with the time to cessation of breastfeeding  
630 among mothers who have index children aged two to three years in Debre Markos, northwest  
631 Ethiopia: a retrospective follow up study. *BMC Pediatrics*. 2018;18(1):77.
- 632 58.Economou M, Kolokotroni O, Paphiti-Demetriou I, Kouta C, Lambrinou E, Hadjigeorgiou E, et al.  
633 The association of breastfeeding self-efficacy with breastfeeding duration and exclusivity:  
634 longitudinal assessment of the predictive validity of the Greek version of the BSES-SF tool. *BMC  
635 pregnancy and childbirth*. 2021;21(1):421.
- 636 59.Kakute PN, Ngum J, Mitchell P, Kroll KA, Forgewei GW, Ngwang LK, et al. Cultural barriers to  
637 exclusive breastfeeding by mothers in a rural area of Cameroon, Africa. *Journal of midwifery &  
638 women's health*. 2005;50(4):324-8.
- 639 60.Nafee Elsayed HMA-DLA. Exclusive Breastfeeding, Prevalence and Maternal Concerns: Saudi and  
640 Egyptian Mothers. *Journal of Education and Practice*. 2016;7(3):5-11.
- 641 61.Al-Nuaimi NKGAJ. Breastfeeding Trends and Determinants. *Sultan Qaboos University Medical  
642 Journal*. 2017;17(2):e155-e61.
- 643 62.Knight-Agarwal CRRPTSJR. The relationship between maternal pre-pregnancy body mass index  
644 and exclusive breastfeeding initiation: Findings from an Australian obstetric cohort. *Obes Res Clin  
645 Pract Obesity research & clinical practice*. 2021;15(1):33-6.
- 646 63.Ozenoglu ASKPAUCAK. The Relationship of Knowledge and Breastfeeding Practice to Maternal  
647 BMI. *Ecology of Food and Nutrition*. 2017;56(2):152-70.

648  
649  
650  
651  
652  
653  
654  
655  
656  
657  
658  
659  
660  
661

**Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics of participating women in both Dubai and Sharjah**

Sociodemographic Characteristics		Emirate (n=858)					
		Sharjah		Dubai		Total	
		n	%	n	%	n	%
Mother Education	High School and Less	107	26.7	168	34.1	275	30.8
	Higher than High School	294	73.3	325	65.9	619	69.2
Mother Occupation	Working	83	20.7	180	36.5	263	29.4
	Not Working	318	79.3	313	63.5	631	70.6
Husband Education	High School and Less	89	22.2	152	30.8	241	27.0
	Higher than High School	312	77.8	341	69.2	653	73.0
Husband's working status	Working fulltime	399	99.5	480	97.4	879	98.3
	Not working	2	0.5	13	2.6	15	1.7
Family Income	Middle and lower income	187	57.7	69	15.2	256	32.9
	Upper than Middle income	137	42.3	386	84.8	523	67.1
Family Size	≤ 4	214	57.7	237	50.6	451	53.8
	>4	157	42.3	231	49.4	388	46.2
Number of Children	< 3	248	61.8	290	58.8	538	60.2
	≥ 3	153	38.2	203	41.2	356	39.8
Marital Status	Married	399	99.5	473	95.9	872	97.5
	Divorced or Widow	2	0.5	20	4.1	22	2.5
What is your last infant's sex?	Boys	222	55.4	254	51.5	476	53.2
	Girls	179	44.6	239	48.5	418	46.8
Age Group	15-19	5	1.3	4	0.8	9	1.0
	20-34	307	77.5	350	74.3	657	75.8
	35-50	84	21.2	117	24.8	201	23.2
Infants Age (month)	1-6	68	17.0	52	10.5	120	13.4
	7- 12	171	42.6	176	35.7	347	38.8
	13-18	115	28.7	161	32.7	276	30.9
	≥ 19	47	11.7	104	21.1	151	16.9

662  
663  
664  
665  
666  
667  
668  
669  
670  
671  
672  
673  
674  
675  
676

**Table 2. Association between EBF and women's sociodemographic characteristics**

Sociodemographic Characteristics		Exclusive breastfeeding (n=858)						p-value
		Yes		No		Total		
		n	%	n	%	n	%	
Emirate	Sharjah	119	54.6	263	42.8	382	45.9	.003*
	Dubai	99	45.4	351	57.2	450	54.1	
Marriage Age of Mother	≤20	75	35.0	175	28.6	250	30.3	.079
	>20	139	65.0	436	71.4	575	69.7	
Marital Status	Married	213	97.7	600	97.7	813	97.7	.991
	Divorced or Widow	5	2.3	14	2.3	19	2.3	
Mother Education	High School and Less	68	31.2	193	31.4	261	31.4	.948
	Higher than High School	150	68.8	421	68.6	571	68.6	
Mother Occupation	Working	41	18.8	199	32.4	240	28.8	.000*
	Not Working	177	81.2	415	67.6	592	71.2	
Husband Education	High School and Less	53	24.3	182	29.6	235	28.2	.133
	Higher than High School	165	75.7	432	70.4	597	71.8	
Husband Occupation	Working fulltime	217	99.5	603	98.2	820	98.6	.156
	Not working	1	0.5	11	1.8	12	1.4	

\*P value significant at  $p < 0.005$

677  
678  
679  
680  
681  
682  
683  
684  
685  
686  
687  
688  
689  
690  
691

692  
693  
694  
695  
696  
697  
698  
699  
700  
701  
702  
703  
704  
705  
706  
707

**Table 3. Association between mixed feeding (breast milk and Formula milk and women's sociodemographic characteristics**

Women characteristics		Mixed feeding (Breast milk + Formula milk) (n=858)						p-value
		Yes		No		Total		
		n	%	n	%	n	%	
Emirate	Sharjah	192	44.1	190	47.9	382	45.9	.282
	Dubai	243	55.9	207	52.1	450	54.1	
Marriage Age of Mother	≤20	122	28.2	128	32.7	250	30.3	.162
	>20	311	71.8	264	67.3	575	69.7	
Marital Status	Married	428	98.4	385	97.0	813	97.7	.173
	Divorced or Widow	7	1.6	12	3.0	19	2.3	
Mother Education	High School and Less	128	29.4	133	33.5	261	31.4	.206
	Higher than High School	307	70.6	264	66.5	571	68.6	
Mother Occupation	Working	158	36.3	82	20.7	240	28.8	.000*
	Not Working	277	63.7	315	79.3	592	71.2	
Having Maid at home	Yes	226	69.1	173	42.2	435	57.1	.000*
	No	117	30.9	210	54.8	372	42.9	
Husband Occupation	Working fulltime	428	98.4	392	98.7	820	98.6	.673
	Not working	7	1.6	5	1.3	12	1.4	

\*P value significant at  $p < 0.005$

708  
709  
710  
711  
712  
713  
714  
715  
716  
717  
718  
719  
720  
721  
722

723  
724  
725  
726  
727  
728  
729  
730  
731  
732  
733  
734  
735  
736  
737  
738

**Table 4. Association between EBF and women's obstetric and general health status variables**

Women's Overall Health Status	Exclusive breastfeeding (n=858)						p-value	
	Yes		No		Total			
	n	%	n	%	n	%		
Delivery mode	Normal	154	70.6	428	69.7	582	70.0	.796
	Caesarean	64	29.4	186	30.3	250	30.0	
Pregnancy status	Yes	27	12.4	57	9.3	84	10.1	.192
	No	191	87.6	557	90.7	748	89.9	
Do you have any health problems?	Yes	25	11.5	89	14.5	114	13.7	.264
	No	193	88.5	525	85.5	718	86.3	
Contraceptive use	Yes	52	23.9	164	26.7	216	26.0	.409
	No	166	76.1	450	73.3	616	74.0	
Sore nipples	Yes	76	34.9	234	38.1	310	37.3	.364
	No	142	65.1	380	61.9	522	62.7	
lactation amenorrhea	Yes	138	63.3	267	43.5	405	48.7	.000
	No	80	36.7	347	56.5	427	51.3	
Mother BMI	Underweight (<18.5)	3	1.5	11	1.9	14	1.8	.078
	Normal (18.5-25)	93	46.5	213	37.2	306	39.6	
	Overweight (26-29)	69	34.5	208	36.3	277	35.8	
	Obese (≥30)	35	17.5	141	24.6	176	22.8	

\*P value significant at  $p < 0.005$

739  
740  
741  
742  
743  
744  
745  
746  
747  
748  
749  
750  
751

752  
753  
754  
755  
756  
757  
758  
759  
760  
761  
762  
763  
764  
765  
766  
767  
768  
769

**Table 5. Association between mixed feeding (Breast milk and formula milk ) and women’s health status**

Women’s Health Characteristics		Mixed feeding (Breast milk + Formula milk milk) (n=858)				Total		p-value
		Yes		No				
		n	%	n	%	n	%	
Type of Delivery	Normal	294	67.6	288	72.5	582	70.0	.119
	Caesarian	141	32.4	109	27.5	250	30.0	
Pregnancy status	Yes	41	9.4	43	10.8	84	10.1	.509
	No	394	90.6	354	89.2	748	89.9	
Do you have any health problems?	Yes	64	14.7	50	12.6	114	13.7	.375
	No	371	85.3	347	87.4	718	86.3	
Contraceptive use	Yes	130	29.9	86	21.7	216	26.0	.007
	No	305	70.1	311	78.3	616	74.0	
Sore nipples	Yes	167	38.4	143	36.0	310	37.3	.480
	No	268	61.6	254	64.0	522	62.7	
lactational amenorrhea	Yes	165	37.9	240	60.5	405	48.7	.000
	No	270	62.1	157	39.5	427	51.3	
Mother BMI	Under Weight (<18.5)	7	1.7	7	1.9	14	1.8	.515
	Normal (18.5-25)	160	38.6	146	40.7	306	39.6	
	Over Weight (26-29)	144	34.8	133	37.0	277	35.8	
	Obese (≥30)	103	24.9	73	20.3	176	22.8	

\*P value significant at  $p < 0.005$

770  
771  
772  
773  
774  
775  
776  
777  
778  
779

780  
781  
782  
783  
784  
785  
786  
787  
788  
789  
790  
791  
792  
793  
794  
795  
796  
797  
798

**Table 6. Association between EBF and different feeding practices**

Women's Breastfeeding Practices		Exclusive breastfeeding (n=858)						p-value
		Yes		No		Total		
		n	%	n	%	n	%	
Breastfeeding during the 1 <sup>st</sup> hour after birth	Yes	174	79.8	429	69.9	603	72.5	.005
	No	44	20.2	185	30.1	229	27.5	
When did you start breastfeeding?	Directly after delivery (Within the first hour)	174	79.8	429	69.9	603	72.5	.007
	After one hour	35	16.1	113	18.4	148	17.8	
	After one day	5	2.3	40	6.5	45	5.4	
	After few days	4	1.8	32	5.2	36	4.3	
Infant still breastfeeding	Yes	124	56.9	211	34.4	335	40.3	.000
	No	94	43.1	402	65.5	496	59.6	
Breastfeeding duration	≤6months	37	38.9	271	65.9	308	60.9	.000
	>6months	58	61.1	140	34.1	198	39.1	
Skin to skin contact period	≤5min	75	43.9	188	42.0	263	42.5	.661
	6-10min	31	18.1	96	21.4	127	20.5	
	>10	65	38.0	164	36.6	229	37.0	

799  
800  
801  
802  
803  
804  
805  
806  
807  
808  
809  
810  
811

\*P value significant at  $p < 0.005$



In review

**Table 7. Odds Ratio between EBF and mixed feeding together with some variables**

Variables	Exclusive breastfeeding			Mixed breastfeeding		
	OR	CI 95%	p-value	OR	CI 95%	p-value
Infants Age (month)	1-6	1.0		1.0		
	7- 12	1.1	0.3 4.5	0.361	1.2 0.4 3.8	0.297
	13-18	0.6	0.1 2.5	0.397	1.8 0.5 6.2	0.325
	≥ 19	0.8	0.1 4.2	0.898	2.7 0.6 11.5	0.755
Duration of Breastfeeding	0-6 months	1.0		1		
	7-12 months	2.0	0.8 4.7	0.051	0.2 0.1 0.5	0.000
	≥13 months	6.9	2.0 23.8	0.002	0.1 0.0 0.2	0.000
Skin to skin period	≤5min	1.0		1		
	6-10min	0.8	0.3 2.3	0.066	0.7 0.3 1.7	0.234
	>10	2.0	0.9 4.5	0.042	0.3 0.2 0.6	0.002
Underweight	No	1.0		1		
	Yes	0.7	0.1 7.2	0.722	4.7 0.4 50.2	0.034
Husband Education	High School and Less	1.0		1		
	Higher than High School	2.1	0.8 5.5	0.015	0.6 0.3 1.2	0.241
Mother Education	High School and Less	1.0		1		
	Higher than High School	1.3	0.5 3.5	0.027	1.4 0.6 3.1	0.180
What is your last infant's sex?	Girls	1.0		1		
	Boys	0.7	0.3 1.4	0.180	1.6 0.9 2.9	0.010
Do you have a maid at home?	No	1.0		1		
	Yes	0.8	0.4 1.6	0.072	2.1 1.1 4.0	0.000
Birth weight	Normal birth weight	1.0		1		
	Low birth weight	1.1	0.3 4.8	0.920	0.8 0.2 3.0	0.680
Number of Children	< 3	1.0		1		
	≥ 3	7.9	1.0 65.2	0.045	0.2 0.0 0.6	0.013
Do you have any health problem?	no	1.0		1		
	Yes	1.2	0.4 3.2	0.045	0.9 0.4 2.1	0.065

Marriage age of mother	≤20	1.0				1			
	>20	0.7	0.3	1.6	0.320	1.3	0.6	2.5	0.255
Family Size	≤ 4	1.0				1			
	>4	0.1	0.0	1.1	0.271	7.1	1.8	28.3	0.926
Family Income	Middle and lower income	1.0				1			
	Upper than Middle income	1.0	0.4	2.5	0.468	2.5	1.1	5.7	0.755
Emirate	Dubai	1.0				1			
	Sharjah	1.4	0.6	3.5	0.033	2.5	1.1	5.8	0.014

821  
822  
823  
824  
825  
826  
827  
828  
829  
830  
831  
832

*\*P value significant at  $p < 0.001$*